RECEIVED

Jul 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2019CP041942
Appellant Case No. 2023-001681

Natalie Zitek, individually, and on behalf of
all others similarly situated, Plaintiff,

v.

D. R. Horton, Inc., Jane Doe#1-10; and,
John Doe #1-50, Defendants,

AND

D.R. Horton, Inc., Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

AJ Landscaping & Grading, LLC a/k/a A J Landscaping &
Grading, LLC; AllPro Textures, LLC; Alpha Omega
Construction Group, Inc.; American Concrete and Precast, Inc.;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The trial judge erroneously applied a standard of “clear and unequivocal” to the parties’ contractual provisions requiring the Respondent to defend the Appellant against claims concerning the Respondent’s work and provide insurance to protect the Appellant against those claims.

2. The trial judge erred in finding that the Respondent’s duties to provide the Appellant a defense and insurance to protect it against claims concerning Respondent’s work were not “clear and unequivocal” in the parties’ contract.

3. The trial judge erroneously concluded that the Appellant was not damaged by the Respondent’s breach of contract and refusal to defend the Appellant or pay its defense fees and expenses or have its insurance company do likewise.

4. The trial judge erroneously ruled that the duties to defend and provide insurance in the parties’ contract were not severable from the remainder of the contract and enforceable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 25, 2019, Plaintiff Natalie Zitek filed a Complaint against Appellant D.R. Horton, Inc. as the developer of the Rose Hill subdivision in Anderson County. Plaintiff’s counsel served it in 2020. The Complaint alleged vague construction defects and was open-ended to allege more. The Plaintiff included unnamed Jane and John Does as sub-contractor co-defendants and asked the Court to certify a class of all owners of the houses in Rose Hill. (ROA pp. 55-69) Judge Cordell Maddox certified the class. (ROA pp. 1-14) Judge Sprouse later modified the class certification to include two subgroups: (1) original owners who purchased from D.R. Horton, and (2) those who purchased their homes from prior owners – “downstream purchasers.” The class ultimately included approximately 220 homes.

Subsequently, the Plaintiff sent the Appellant a Notice and Opportunity to Cure dated December 11, 2019, which implicated certain of the Respondent's work. The Appellant moved to compel arbitration. On January 27, 2021 Judge Maddox denied that motion. Meanwhile, Covid 19 intervened. On February 23, 2022, the Appellant sued the Respondent and dozens of other sub-contractors as third-party defendants. It sought recompense from them for their acts or failures to act, contractual and equitable duties to indemnify, contractual duties to defend, and contractual duties to obtain insurance for the Appellant and name the Appellant as an additional insured.¹

That is how the Respondent in this appeal was added to the case. The Respondent is Defendant Galloway-Bell, Inc. A/K/A Galloway-Bell Inc. II.

The case involved numerous sub-contractor parties, many discovery disputes in which the Appellant repeatedly attempted to obtain the discovery necessary to clearly understand what work was and was not being included for trial, (ROA pp. 70-96; 97-123; 20-21; 956-973; 987 line 1 – 990 line 22; 1056-1058; 980 line 21 – 984 line 18; 1001 line 12- line 1003 line 20), and motions by sub-contractors *to also gain clarity* as to what work was and was not being included for trial. (ROA pp. 951 line 10- 954 line 18) The Plaintiff did not remove any claims from the case until July 20, 2023, six weeks before trial, when it filed a Stipulation that, among other things, released claims concerning the Respondent's work. The Stipulation was filed at the direction of the Court and consistent with statements by the Plaintiff at a hearing on April 21,

¹ The Appellant asserted third-party claims against its sub-contractors, including contractual and equitable indemnification, duty to defend, breach of contract, breach of warranties, contribution, and negligence. (ROA pp. 70-96; 97-123)

2023, (ROA pp. 470-472; 984 lines 14-18), but the Plaintiff did not file a stipulation with regards to the work performed by the Respondent with specifics until July 2023. (ROA pp. 470-472)

On the eve of trial, on September 1, 2023, the Court granted summary judgment to the Respondent on the Appellant's Third-Party Complaint against it. (ROA pp. 1021 line 25 – 1023 line 11) The Appellant moved the Court to reconsider on September 11, 2023, (ROA pp. 473-659), which the Court effectively denied when it issued its expanded order on September 27, 2023. (ROA pp. 37-42) The Appellant then served its notice of appeal on October 25, 2023. (ROA pp. 918-937) Those summary judgment orders, FORM 4 and the expanded orders, are the summary judgment orders in the Notice of Appeal.²

Some of the other Third-Party Defendants moved for summary judgment in the fall of 2022 on the same basis as the Respondent's Motions for Summary Judgement, (ROA pp. 141-145; 146-149), except for the Plaintiff's July 20, 2023 Stipulation that renounced claims against the Respondent. The Court denied those motions by Order dated November 3, 2022. (ROA pp. 15-22) Judge Sprouse determined that "there are genuine issues of material fact in the claims

² The Orders in the Notice of Appeal included the following, with copies of the Orders included with the Notice of Appeal. D.R. Horton, Inc. appeals the following Orders of the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse:

Form 4 Order dated and filed September 27, 2023, granting Defendant Galloway-Bell, Inc. A/K/A Galloway-Bell Inc. II's Motion for Summary Judgment filed May 2, 2023, and the expanded Order dated and filed September 27, 2023, granting the same motion titled Order Granting Galloway-Bell, Inc. A/K/A Galloway-Bell, Inc II's Motion for Summary Judgment as To All Claims Asserted by Third-Party Plaintiff D.R. Horton, Inc., as well as the verbal Order on September 1, 2023, to which D.R. Horton, Inc. filed its Motion to Reconsider and/or Alter or Amend the Order Granting Third-Party Defendant Galloway-Bell, Inc. A/K/A Galloway-Bell Inc. II's Motion for Summary Judgment as to D.R. Horton, Inc.'s Third-Party Complaint dated and filed September 11, 2023. Counsel for the Appellant received written notice of entry of the Order effectively denying its Motion for Reconsideration by virtue of the Court's Orders referenced herein on September 27, 2023.

between the Defendant and Third-Party Defendants,” precluding summary judgment and did not find that the provisions in those contracts were not “clear and unequivocal.”

The Plaintiff and the Appellant settled during trial. The only matter on this appeal is the Court’s grant of summary judgment to Respondent Galloway-Bell.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews the grant of a summary judgment motion *de novo* as to matters of law. “When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCR.P.” *Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard*, 400 S.C. 246, 250, 734 S.E.2d 161, 163 (S.C. 2012) (quoting *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (S.C. 2002)). “Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law. To withstand a motion for summary judgment ‘in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.’” *Id.* (quoting *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Ins.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (S.C. 2009)).

SUMMARY OF FACTS

Because the Plaintiff and the Appellant settled, no homeowner is involved in this appeal. The case is between the Appellant as a residential real estate developer and the Respondent as one of its sub-contractors whose work was brought into question. This appeal is not a consumer protection case and does not involve any home purchasers or consumer contracts.

This appeal is between sophisticated businesses. It involves the ruling of Judge Sprouse granting summary judgment to the Respondent and denying the Appellant its contracted-for and paid-for claims for defense or defense fees and expenses, and protection as an additional insured.

Fundamentally, this is an allocation of risk case between sophisticated businesses. The Appellant and the Respondent entered into contracts in which the Respondent agreed to perform certain construction services, agreed to defend the Appellant against claims concerning the Respondent's work or pay the Appellant's defense fees and expenses, and agreed to provide insurance to the Appellant via additional insured policy provisions *in exchange for* the Appellant paying compensation for all of these obligations. No one forced the Respondent to sign the contract and it has not repaid the Appellant one dime of what the Appellant paid the Respondent. This case is about businesses that determined how risk would be allocated among themselves and who would be responsible to defend against and cover claims.

The contract at issue involves indemnification, duty to defend, warranties, and additional insured provisions. The Respondent Galloway's obligations are contained in a printed form agreement titled "South Carolina Independent Contractor Agreement ('ICA')." Section 10 concerns the Respondent's indemnification and duty to defend obligations. Section 11 requires it to provide insurance for those obligations and to name the Appellant D. R. Horton as an additional insured. (ROA. pp.479-480; 1049-1054) Galloway admitted that it had performed work at the development and that the work it performed was included in the Plaintiff's July 2023 stipulation. (ROA pp. 360) (Galloway Memo in Support of Summary Judgment filed 7/11/2023, p. 13). Galloway's work was also included in the Plaintiff's December 11, 2019 Notice and Opportunity to Cure.

Insurance and duties to defend are more than theoretical in this case. They are critical because the Appellant was left by the Respondent to fend off all the Plaintiff's claims by itself after the Respondent and its insurance company failed to provide the Appellant a defense. The claims included the claims in the Notice to Cure and the Plaintiff's Complaint, which was

deliberately open-ended to expand the universe of claims. The Appellant spent considerable money on attorneys' fees and expenses during four years of complex and difficult class-action litigation defending against the claims relating to 220 houses, and requiring the Plaintiff to provide discovery and evidence of its claims – including those regarding the Respondent's work. The Court was well aware of the many hearings and motions regarding discovery disputes, depositions, on-site inspections, motions to compel discovery, motions for more definite statements and other activities in which the Appellant engaged to defend against the claims the Plaintiff identified in her Notice to Cure and Complaint.

The Appellant suffered reputational harm, as well.

It is a supreme irony—and injustice—that it was through the Appellant's shouldering of the defense of the Respondent's work that the Plaintiff finally stipulated the Respondent out of the case, and yet the Respondent has failed and refused to live up to its contractual obligation to provide that defense for the Appellant or have its insurance company provide it.

Respondent Galloway's work consisted of attic insulation. (ROA pp. 360) (Galloway Memo in Support of Summary Judgment filed 7/11/2023, p. 13). Galloway is a sophisticated contractor that knew what its obligations were, including its obligations to indemnify, defend, and insure.

After the Plaintiff sued the Appellant and provided it with a Notice to Cure deficiency, the Appellant tendered the claims to the various sub-contractor respondents to defend. Neither Galloway-Bell nor its insurance company provided D.R. Horton a defense. Instead, the Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment to evade its obligations and its insurance company's obligations under the duty to indemnify and duty to defend provisions of its contract. (ROA pp. 276-299) The Respondent received the full benefit of the contract which it entered into

– it was provided the work, it was paid for the work, and it was paid for the duty to indemnify, duty to defend, and duty to provide insurance as part of the total compensation package for the contractual obligations and performance of the work.

It is typical in business contracts that the parties allocate risk as part of the contract. The party assuming the risk is compensated accordingly, and such contracts typically include additional insured provisions such that one party provides insurance for the benefit of both parties to cover claims regarding the work. Otherwise, situations arise in which the parties work at cross-purposes or efforts are duplicated – which the parties contracted to avoid in this case. Respondent assumed the insurance obligation, as well as an indemnification obligation and a duty to defend. The Appellant relied upon these contractual provisions. (ROA pp. 1049-1055; 1000 lines 14-17; 1005 line 20 – 1006 line 19) The Respondent breached its agreement by failing to comply with the terms of the agreement.

After the Plaintiff finally filed a Stipulation on July 20, 2023 that she was not proceeding with claims for the Respondent’s work, the Court granted the Respondent full summary judgment over the Appellant’s objection. This included the Appellant’s claim for the attorneys’ fees and expenses that it incurred in defense. The Plaintiff’s eve of trial Stipulation did not make all the years of fees and expenses disappear; nor did it repair the reputational harm that the Appellant suffered as a result of the claims having been brought and litigated for years. The parties’ contracts and the Appellant’s resulting damage from the Respondent’s breach are clear.

In granting summary judgment, the Court went far beyond the Plaintiff’s July 20, 2023 Stipulation dropping claims against the Respondent. Even though the Stipulation removed only negligence from the case, Judge Sprouse nevertheless wrongly applied the “clear and unequivocal” standard applicable only to concurrent or sole negligence to eliminate the

Respondent's defense and insurance obligations. Those were completely different. They did not depend upon negligence. They arose under contract. Making the matter worse, Judge Sprouse's grant of summary judgment to the Respondent was directly contrary to his own earlier rulings **denying summary judgment** to other third-party defendant sub-contractors that had filed for summary judgment earlier. (ROA pp. 15-22; 1033 lines 12-1034 line 5 T.R. (9/15/2023) p. 20-21 (Note: pagination changed when transcript from 9/11/2023 – 9/15/2023 is used). Their contracts were similar to those of the Respondent in all material respects. Judge Sprouse commented about what appears to be an inconsistency in granting summary judgment to some third-party defendants and not others.

The other claims were made at summary judgment, those motions for summary judgment were denied, because there was some allegation that those third parties had committed negligence of some sort. Again, I have to consider this in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, and I'm going to find that there is some evidence in the record that a reasonable jury could base its decision in favor of the claim, so I'm going to deny the motion for a directed verdict.

(ROA pp. 15-22; 1033 lines 12-1034 line 5 TR. 9/15/2023 pp. 20-21)

In contrast to his written Order granting summary judgment (likely drafted by counsel for the Respondent) Judge Sprouse said that he granted summary judgment due to there being no negligence based on Plaintiff's Stipulation -- *not* because the contract at issue was not "clear and unequivocal."

ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED A STANDARD OF "CLEAR AND UNEQUIVOCAL" TO THE PARTIES' CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS REQUIRING THE RESPONDENT TO DEFEND THE APPELLANT AGAINST CLAIMS CONCERNING THE RESPONDENT'S WORK AND PROVIDE INSURANCE TO PROTECT THE APPELLANT AGAINST THOSE CLAIMS.

There was no need for the Court to decide whether the parties' indemnity provision was "clear and unequivocal" because there was no concurrent or sole negligence of indemnitee at

issue when the Court issued its ruling. The Plaintiff stipulated the Respondent's work would not be an issue at trial, which meant that the Appellant's work related to the Respondent's work would also not be an issue at trial. The Stipulation was filed in July 2023 and the Court's summary judgment ruling for the Respondent was filed in September 2023. Nonetheless, based on the Order Respondent prepared in the case, the Court ruled that the indemnity provisions did not comply with the requirements set forth in *Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord Cumberland, LLC*, 424 S.C. 639, 819 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2018) and were therefore unenforceable.³ This portion of the Court's order is either dicta or moot because the case's posture is not similar to *Concord*. This case sits differently from the typical construction case in which *Concord* might be applied. After the Stipulation in this case, there was no concurrent or sole negligence by the indemnitee, nor the Respondent's work, nor is the Respondent being asked to provide relief for any concurrent or sole negligence by indemnitee. The lynchpin of *Concord* stems from an indemnitee's concurrent or sole negligence. The court in *Concord* held that when a party seeks indemnification for its own concurrent negligence, the "clear and unequivocal" standard applies. *Id.* at 649, 172. Additionally, "when an indemnity clause purports 'to relieve an indemnitee from the consequences of its own negligence,' [South Carolina] case law requires strict construction of the clause." *Id.* at 650, 172 (quoting *Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists, PA v. M.S. Bailey & Sons Bankers*, 355 S.C. 104, 111, 584 S.E.2d 375, 378-379 (2003)).

However, *Concord* does not relieve indemnitors of their own wrongdoing or their duties to insure or defend an indemnitee for an indemnitor's own wrongdoing or wrongdoing an

³ The duty to indemnify, duty to defend, and duty to insure are set forth in the ICA included in the ROA.

indemnitor is claimed to have done, such as when a claim is made that may later be rescinded by a plaintiff or potential plaintiff. This appeal is focused on the Respondent's duties to indemnify and defend the Appellant from claims alleged about the *Respondent's* work. Once the Plaintiff stipulated she was not planning to pursue claims related to the Respondent's work at trial, there was no allegation of concurrent or sole negligence by Appellant regarding the Respondent's work. Thus *Concord* is not relevant to this appeal.

2. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT'S DUTIES TO PROVIDE THE APPELLANT A DEFENSE AND INSURANCE TO PROTECT IT AGAINST CLAIMS CONCERNING RESPONDENT'S WORK WERE NOT "CLEAR AND UNEQUIVOCAL" IN THE PARTIES' CONTRACT.

If the Court determines that *Concord* applies, the indemnity provisions between the Appellant and Galloway closely track the language suggested by the court in *Concord* and provide that Galloway will indemnify the Appellant for certain losses regardless of whether or not the losses were caused in part by the Appellant. The indemnity provision "clearly and unequivocally" shows that the parties intended to absolve the Appellant of the consequences of its own concurrent negligence. Therefore, the indemnity provision meets the standard set forth in *Concord* and is enforceable.

The Respondent's ICA provides that the Respondent shall provide the defense in the event any demands, claims, actions, causes of action . . . are made regarding the Respondent's work. The Plaintiff sent the Appellant a Notice to Cure defects that implicated Galloway's work and filed a Complaint against the Appellant for defects at the subdivision. Together they clearly implicated the Respondent's work. The Respondent's contract with the Appellant provides that the Respondent will provide defense costs and defend the Appellant. When the Respondent failed to do so, the Appellant provided the defense and should now be reimbursed. Galloway's contract provides:

10.1 GENERALLY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, [Subcontractor] . . . hereby agrees to hold harmless, indemnify, protect and **defend** [DRH] . . . from and against any and all demands, claims, actions, causes of action, proceedings, lawsuits, settlements, judgments, fines, penalties, losses, attorney's fees, litigation costs, interest, and expenses of any kind . . . for damages from bodily or personal injury, death, the destruction or loss of property (including loss of use), or any other kind of damages or harm, arising out of, or resulting from, or related in any way to the work performed and/ or the materials supplied under this contract, regardless of whether or not caused in part by indemnitee [DRH].” (emphasis added).

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