THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2019-CP-04-01942
Appellate Case No.: 2023-001681

RECEIVED

Aug 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

Natalie Zitek, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc., Jane Doe #1-10; and, John Doe #1-50,
Defendants,

AND

D.R. Horton, Inc.,
Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

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

Whether the ICA complied with the clear and unequivocal requirement as set forth in *Concord & Cumberland* is relevant in this matter because Appellant is seeking indemnification for the defense of the allegations related to *its own negligence*. *See id.* at 649, 819 S.E.2d at 171. In *Concord & Cumberland*, this Court held the negligence rule¹¹ was properly applied to the contract between Superior and Muhler, and the contract failed to clearly and unequivocally require Muhler to indemnify Superior for its own negligence. *See id.* at 650, 819 S.E.2d at 172.

Superior brought suit, alleging it was entitled to indemnity from Muhler for a settlement paid related to construction defect litigation. *Id.* Superior argued it was entitled to indemnity for its concurrent negligence. *Id.* at 645, 819 S.E.2d at 169. The circuit court granted Muhler’s motion for summary judgment, finding that the 2007 agreement did not clearly and unequivocally require Muhler to indemnify Superior for Superior’s own negligence, and, to the extent it required Muhler to “unconditionally” indemnify Superior, the circuit court found that the agreement was unconscionably broad. *Id.* at 645, 819 S.E.2d at 169–70.

This Court strictly construed the contract and held that the circuit court properly applied the clear and unequivocal standard because the negligence rule applied whether Superior sought indemnification for its sole or concurrent negligence. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 646, 819 S.E.2d at 170. This Court specifically noted that the application of the negligence rule to the contract served the policy purpose of encouraging Superior to act with due care in the future “because the indemnity clause may not shield it from liability.” *Id.* This Court examined the phrase in the agreement stating “regardless of whether it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder” failed to meet the “clear and unequivocal” standard required. *Id.* at 639, 654, 819 S.E.2d at 174. Rather, that phrase only showed that the parties intended Muhler to provide indemnity for its own negligence even

¹¹ The negligence rule is synonymous with the clear and unequivocal standard. *See Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. at 649 n.3, 819 S.E.2d at 171 n.3.

where Superior is concurrently negligent. *Id.* Likewise, this Court held that the 2007 Agreement failed to clearly and unequivocally require indemnity for Superior’s own negligence even when read in conjunction with the original agreement, and also failed to even include any reference to indemnification of Superior’s concurrent negligence. *Id.* at 639, 656, 819 S.E.2d at 176.

Here, like the agreement this Court examined in *Concord & Cumberland*, the ICA fails to clearly and unequivocally require indemnity for Appellant’s own negligence. *See id.* at 650, 819 S.E.2d at 172. Appellant is attempting to circumvent South Carolina’s public policy for the negligence rule—deterrence of future negligent conduct and the use of broad form indemnity provisions. *See id.* Paragraph 10.1 of the ICA includes a handful of lines that try to bring this all-encompassing indemnity requirement within the bounds of South Carolina law—stating that “to the fullest extent permitted by law,” “regardless of whether or not caused in part by indemnitee,” and “notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall require indemnity for the losses caused solely by fault or negligence of the indemnitee.” These lines are nowhere near necessary to survive the heightened standard required under *Concord & Cumberland*—this Court already held the language “regardless of whether or not caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder” was insufficient to meet the heightened standard. *See Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. 639, 654, 819 S.E.2d at 174. These few lines specifically contradict the public policy in the application of the negligence rule—deterring future negligent conduct because the indemnitee will know the *indemnification agreement will not save it from liability if it fails to act with due care.* *See Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. at 648-49, 819 S.E.2d at 171. (*quoting Ashley II of Charleston, L.L.C. v. PCS Nitrogen, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 487, 490–91, 763 S.E.2d 19, 21 (2014)). In fact, the indemnity provision at issue in the ICA goes much further and is even more unclear than the indemnity provision examined under *Concord & Cumberland*. The ICA *actually requires indemnification for*

intentional actions of the indemnitee—only including a line noting that “nothing shall require indemnity for losses caused solely by fault or negligence of the indemnitee.” ICA at ¶ 10.1. Appellant has created the broadest indemnity provision possible in an attempt to escape liability in direct contravention to South Carolina’s public policy. *See Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. at 648-49, 819 S.E.2d at 171.

Furthermore, reading Paragraph 10.2 in conjunction with Paragraph 10.1, the ICA becomes even more confusing, unclear, and oppressive.¹² Section 10.2 allows Appellant to seek indemnification for the defense of *any claim* asserted against Appellant: “Indemnitee shall have the right, at its discretion and choosing, to defend *any and all* claims which may be asserted against it and contractor agrees to reimburse indemnitee for *any and all expenditures*[.]” At the very least, this section created impermissible ambiguity as to what Respondent is supposed to indemnify Appellant for—and thus fails under *Concord & Cumberland*—at worst, this section violates South Carolina’s prohibition on the indemnification of a general contractor’s sole negligence in construction contracts. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 (prohibiting the indemnification of a party’s sole negligence in construction contracts). The indemnity requirements set forth under the ICA therefore fail to meet the requirements of South Carolina law, and the trial court properly granted summary judgment as to Appellant’s contractual indemnity claim.

c. If there was no negligence or otherwise defective work by Respondent, then Appellant has no basis to receive indemnity from Respondent.

Even if the provision is enforceable, Respondent committed no wrong regarding its work at Rose Hill and therefore has nothing to indemnify Appellant for. Paragraph 10.1 of the ICA sets

¹² *See Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 611, 879 S.E.2d 746, 754 (2022) (defining unconscionability as the absence of meaningful choice and terms that are so oppressive no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them). Respondent had no meaningful choice—it was a subcontractor to a national homebuilder. *See id.* Furthermore, the terms forced upon Respondent are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them—it required Respondent to pay for Appellant’s attorney’s fees and costs for any and all claims at the sole discretion of Appellant. *See id.*

forth, in relevant part, losses arising out of or attributable to “*a breach of any warranties . . . any negligent, grossly negligent, and/or intentional act or omission of contractor and/or contractor’s agents[.]*” By the language of the ICA itself, Appellant is not entitled to indemnity—there was no breach of warranty, negligent, grossly negligent, or intentional act or omission that caused any harm to Appellant. The mere allegations of damage cannot trigger an indemnification provision against a subcontractor—South Carolina public policy would prevent indemnification of Appellant where there has been no wrongdoing by Respondent. *See* S.C. Code Ann § 32-2-10 (prohibiting the indemnification of the contractor’s sole negligence in a construction contract); *Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. at 649, 819 S.E.2d at 172 (requiring the indemnification of the contractor’s concurrent negligence to be set forth clearly and unequivocally). To require Respondent to indemnify Appellant where its work was stipulated to not be at issue would do nothing more than require Respondent to become Appellant’s insurer, which South Carolina has expressly discouraged and limited in the construction context. *See* S.C. Code Ann § 32-2-10; *Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. at 649, 819 S.E.2d at 172.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANT’S BREACH OF CONTRACT CAUSE OF ACTION.

Respondent maintains Appellant cannot properly present arguments related to breach of contract on appeal, as discussed within Argument I. However, even if this Court finds that Appellant properly preserved and asserted its arguments, the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment as to Appellant’s breach of contract claim as a matter of law. Furthermore, Appellant’s argument related to the trial court improperly concluding it was not damaged by Respondent’s alleged breach of contract has been abandoned on appeal. *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enters., LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 656, 780 S.E.2d 263, 275 (2015) (holding claims were not preserved for review where the appellants failed to cite any authority in their arguments on

appeal); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (holding the failure to provide arguments or supporting authority for an issue renders it abandoned); *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. DOT*, 385 S.C. 550, 557, 684 S.E.2d 779, 783 (Ct. App. 2009) (holding issues were abandoned on appeal because they were not argued); *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011) (“An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.”). Appellant offered no supporting authority and instead, at best, offered conclusory allegations that failed to meet the required standard to properly argue an issue on appeal. *See Hotel & Motel Holdings*, 414 S.C. at 656, 780 S.E.2d at 275; *First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E.2d at 514; *Carolina Renewal*, 385 S.C. at 557, 684 S.E.2d at 783; *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. at 363, 714 S.E.2d at 558. Thus, this Court should not consider Appellant’s argument as to this issue. *See Hotel & Motel Holdings*, 414 S.C. at 656, 780 S.E.2d at 275; *First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E.2d at 514; *Carolina Renewal*, 385 S.C. at 557, 684 S.E.2d at 783; *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. at 363, 714 S.E.2d at 558.

a. The trial court properly dismissed Appellant’s breach of contract claim because it was a disguised indemnity claim.

Even if this Court finds that Appellant did properly preserve its causes of action related to breach of contract, the trial court did not err in dismissing this claim. In *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Grp.*, 413 S.C. at 639, 776 S.E.2d at 439, this Court held that a general contractor cannot maintain a breach of contract cause of action against its subcontractors that are merely disguised indemnity claims. *Id.* at 639, 776 S.E.2d at 439.

This Court held that the circuit court properly granted summary judgment as to a breach of contract and breach of warranty cross-claims because the claims were not independent causes of action from the indemnity claim. *Id.* In the cross-complaint, Marick alleged, “If [Stoneledge’s] allegations are true, . . . [the respondents] have provided defective materials or services in breach

of each of their contracts with Marick. . . . [S]aid breach of contract has resulted or could result in damage to [Stoneledge], which could or will be assessed against Marick.” *Id.* at 635-36, 776 S.E.2d at 437.

Here, in Appellant’s Third-Party Complaint, Appellant alleged:

115. To the extent that Plaintiff proves that the work was not performed correctly, Subcontractors materially breached the Agreements in failing to construct the Homes in Rose Hill in accordance with contract requirements, industry standards, and/or building code requirements so as to avoid construction defects.

116. D.R. Horton is entitled to judgment against Subcontractors for breach of contract plus costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and other damages associated therewith.

(ROA pp. 93). Appellant did not and could not present any evidence of any independent damage resulting from any alleged improper work at Rose Hill throughout the years of litigation, and only alleged the contract was breached to the extent that the homes in Rose Hill were constructed improperly. (ROA pp. 93). Appellant did not even plead that the contract was breached with regards to anything other than the performance of Respondent’s scope of work at Rose Hill. (ROA pp. 93).

Even so, the allegations in Appellant’s Third-party Complaint are almost identical to the allegations this Court has ruled to be improper. *See id.* at 635–39, 776 S.E.2d at 437–39. Both the allegations contained in *Stoneledge* and alleged by Appellant here fail to demonstrate the suffering of *its own damages* as a result of any breach of contract by Respondent. *See Id.* at 636, 776 S.E.2d at 437. Just like the damages alleged and examined in *Stoneledge*, Appellant’s damages arose *exclusively from having to defend itself*. *See id.* Even now, while Appellant argues it suffered reputational harm, it has failed to both plead this under its breach of contract cause of action and show *any* evidence for it whatsoever—it presented no evidence of this supposed reputational harm throughout the multiple years that this case was pending. *See id.* Even in its Initial Brief, Appellant

continues to point to its damages related to defending itself in the litigation and only offers the conclusory allegation that it suffered reputational harm, without any citation to proof therein. *See Id.* Exactly like the cause of action in *Stoneledge*, without Plaintiff’s suit against Appellant, the so called “independent claims” against Respondent would not exist. *See id.* at 673, 776 S.E.2d at 438.

Appellant’s failure to properly plead or show any evidence whatsoever that it suffered its own damages related to any breach of contract shows that the trial court did not err in its application of *Stoneledge* and dismissal of Appellant’s breach of contract claim because there were no genuine issues of material fact. *See* Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *Kitchen Planners*, 440 S.C. at 461, 892 S.E.2d at 300; *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. at 493, 567 S.E.2d at 860; *Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 115, 410 S.E.2d at 545; *Ellis*, 358 S.C. at 517–18, 595 S.E.2d at 822.

b. The obligation within the ICA to indemnify and defend is one and the same and is not severable.

Indemnity is a form of compensation where a first party is liable to pay a second party for loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party. *Concord & Cumberland*, 424 S.C. at 646-47, 819 S.E.2d at 170 (*quoting Laurens*, 355 S.C. at 111, 584 S.E.2d at 378-79). The entirety or severability of a contract depends on the intent of the parties. *Columbia Architectural Group, Inc. v. Barker*, 274 S.C. 639, 641, 266 S.E.2d 428, 428 (1980).

Appellant attempts to separate the obligation of defense from the obligation of indemnity within the contract; however, this cannot be done—they are one and the same. Providing a defense for Appellant—or, in this case, paying Appellant for Appellant’s costs related to defending itself—is nothing more than indemnification of Appellant. *See id.* Appellant is asking Respondent to pay for the loss or damage Appellant has incurred to a third-party. *See id.* In other words, Appellant is asking for *indemnification* from Respondent without limitation. *See id.*

The ICA itself does not distinguish between the obligations to defend and indemnify.

Paragraph 10.1 of the ICA states:

Generally, . . . [Respondent] hereby agrees to *hold harmless, indemnify, protect, and defend* [Appellant] . . . from and against any and all demands, claims, actions, causes of action, proceedings, lawsuits, judgments, fines, penalties, losses, attorneys fees, litigation costs, interest, and expenses of any kind . . . regardless of whether or not caused in part by indemnitee. Such losses specifically include, but are in no way limited to losses arising out of or attributable to . . . any negligent, grossly negligent, and/or intentional act and/or omission of the indemnitee related in any way to the work. . . . Indemnitee shall have the right, at its discretion and choosing, to defend any and all claims which may be asserted against it, and [Respondent] agrees to reimburse [Appellant] for any and all expenditures which indemnitee may make or incur on account of any such claim.

(ROA pp. 1042). (emphasis added). Paragraph 10.2 of the ICA states:

Indemnitee shall have the right, at its discretion and choosing, to defend any and all claims which may be asserted against it, and *contractor agrees to reimburse indemnitee* for any and all expenditures which indemnitee may make or incur on account of any such claim.

(ROA pp. 1042).¹³ (emphasis added).

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